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Introduction

“The Criminal Division’s message is clear. We are watching. We are closely 

monitoring the markets. And we will leave no stone unturned in our efforts to 

combat and eradicate illegal, fraudulent, and manipulative market conduct.”

- John P. Cronan, Acting Assistant Attorney General Announcing 

“Futures Market Spoofing Takedown” (Jan. 29, 2018)

“You should be sentenced for what you did, but I do think it is fair to say that the 

government has used [the defendants] ... as proxy wrongdoers.”

- Hon. Colleen McMahon, U.S. District Judge SDNY

sentencing hearing in U.S. v. Connolly (Libor)

“Here, the Government has pursued a criminal prosecution on the basis of conduct 

that violated no clear rule or regulation, was not prohibited by the agreements 

between the parties, and indeed was consistent with the parties’ understanding of 

the arms-length relationship in which they operated. The Court cannot permit this 

case to go to the jury on such a basis.”

- Hon. Charles Breyer, U.S. District Judge N.D. Calif., order 

U.S. v. Bogucki (FX)
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Overview

•Commodity Markets & Thirty Years of Criminal 
Prosecutions

•Front-Running: Prosecuting Market Makers in 
Principal-to-Principal Markets

•How to Charge Spoofing: An Evolution



5

Statutory Toolbox

Commodity Exchange Act Section Max. Penalty Max. Prison 

Term

Statute of 

Limitations

Price Manipulation / Attempt

CEA § 9(a)(2) $1,000,000 10 years 5 years

False Reports Concerning Market Info

Knowing Violations of CEA sections 

concerning Spoofing, Manipulative or 

Deceptive Devices, or Fraud

Criminal Code

Wire Fraud

Wire Fraud Affecting a Financial Institution
18 USC § 1343

$250,000

$1,000,000

20 years

30 years

5 years

10 years

Bank Fraud 18 USC § 1344 $1,000,000 30 years 10 years

Commodities Fraud 18 USC § 1348 $250,000 25 years 6 years

Conspiracy 18 USC § 371

18 USC § 1349

$250,000 5 years

Racketeering – RICO

Racketeering & Bank Fraud
18 USC § 1962 $250,000 20 years

5 years

10 years

Sherman Act

Price Fixing & Bid Rigging 15 U.S.C. § 1 $100,000,000 10 years 5 years



COMMODITY MARKETS

30 YEARS OF CRIMINAL PROSECUTIONS
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1989 - FBI Futures Market Sting

• Dual Trading, Trading Ahead, Prearranged 
Trading

• 46 traders indicted

• Broad Range of Charges
• RICO

• Mail & Wire Fraud

• CEA Violations

• 18 U.S.C. § 1001

• Filing False Tax Returns

• Conspiracy to Defraud the IRS
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Enron Energy Market Manipulations

• Natural Gas Markets 
• CFTC secured a district court consent order 

for manipulation of the natural gas spot 
market prices

• Power/Electricity Markets 
• DOJ secured 3 guilty pleas for conspiracy 

and wire fraud
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2000s: Nat. Gas False Reporting Cases

• Early 2000s begins a series of cases for false reporting natural gas 
prices

• By 2007, DOJ’s Corporate Fraud Task Force counted energy actions 
resulting in:
• Total monetary penalties of $430 million against 24 companies 

• Criminal indictments against 39 individuals and companies
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U.S. v. Radley – TET Propane

• The Company Settlements 
• DOJ

• DPA for conspiracy, wire fraud & price manipulation

• $100 million penalty and $75 million restitution

• CFTC 

• $125 million penalty pursuant to a district court consent 
order

• DOJ Prosecutions of Individuals
• 4 traders charged with manipulation and cornering the 

market under the CEA and wire fraud

• District court dismissed all charges 

• CEA manipulation provision is unconstitutionally vague as 
applied

• CEA Sec. 2(g) [since repealed by the Dodd-Frank Act] 
excluded the conduct from CEA jurisdiction

• 5th Circuit affirmed on CEA Sec. 2(g) grounds



11

LIBOR Settlements

• LIBOR Statistics
• DOJ/CFTC penalties exceed $5 billion

• 3 institutions plead guilty to wire fraud

• 5 DPAs / 3 NPAs

• CFTC charged 10 institutions with attempted 
manipulation
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WM/Reuters Spot FX Settlements

• DOJ
• 4 institutions pleaded guilty to conspiracy to fix prices and 

engage in bid rigging

• 1 institution entered an NPA and pleaded guilty to wire fraud in 
violation of its LIBOR NPA

• CFTC charges 6 institutions with attempted manipulation

Bank Resolutions



FRONT-RUNNING

Prosecuting Market Makers in Principal-to-Principal 
Markets
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U.S. v. Johnson (E.D.N.Y. 2016), affirmed 
(2d Cir. 2019)

• The Trade: A 2011 Spot FX Transaction – USD $4 Billion to GBP

• Case History
• Indicted in 2016 (EDNY) – Conspiracy & Wire Fraud

• Convicted by Jury in 2017 

• Second Circuit Affirmed in 2019

• Supreme Court Cert. Petition Pending

• Second Circuit Appeal
• Right-to-Control Theory: Depriving the victim of information necessary 

to allow it to make discretionary economic decisions 

• Standard: “A defendant who executes a fixing transaction engages in 
criminal fraud if he intentionally misrepresents to the victim how he will 
trade ahead of the fix, thereby deceiving the victim as to how the price 
of the transaction will be determined.”
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U.S. v. Bogucki (N.D. Calif. 2019)

• The Trade: A 2011 FX Option – USD/GBP £6 Billion

• Case History
• Indicted in 2018 – Conspiracy & Wire Fraud Affecting a FI

• “Hammer the market down”

• “We need to sell aggressively … we call out and sell shedloads” 

• Court Entered Judgment of Acquittal 2019 

• District Court’s Opinion
• Two Theories of Fraud Liability

• Misappropriating confidential information in violation of a duty of trust

• Depriving the Victim of its property through material misrepresentations

• ISDA Non-Reliance Provision – no duty owed

• Both parties agreed that they were “bluffing” and “posturing”
• The misleading statements were not material because they would not have 

influenced the counterparty’s decisions



SPOOFING

How to Charge Spoofing: An Evolution
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Pre-Dodd-Frank “Spoofing”

• CFTC v. Eric Moncada & BES Capital (SDNY 2009)

o Moncada allegedly “electronically enter[ed] and immediately cancel[ed] 
numerous large-lot orders for wheat futures that he did not intend to 
fill, but that he intended to use to create a misleading impression of 
increasing liquidity in the marketplace”

o 9 counts of attempted manipulation

o Default Judgment
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Post-Dodd-Frank Spoofing

• U.S. v. Coscia
• Relevant period:  Aug. – Oct. 2011

CFTC DOJ

July 22, 2013 Oct. 1, 2014

Admin. Consent Order Indictment

CEA Sec. 4c(a)(5)(C) - Spoofing 3 Counts Spoofing (CEA Sec. 4c(a)(5)(C) & 9(a)(2))

3 Counts Commodities Fraud (18 USC 1348 )

CFTC DOJ

April 17, 2015 Feb. 11, 2015

District Court Complaint Indictment

Price Manipulation / Attempted

Spoofing 

180.1 Manipulative or Deceptive Device

Wire Fraud

Commodities Fraud (11 counts)

Price Manipulation / Attempted (10 counts)

Spoofing (1 count)

• U.S. v. Sarao

• Relevant Period: April 2010 – March 2014
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Post-Dodd-Frank Spoofing
• U.S. v. Liew  

• Relevant Period: Dec. 2009 – Feb. 2012

CFTC DOJ

June 2, 2017 May 24, 2017

Admin. Consent Order Criminal Information

Spoofing

Price Manipulation / Attempt

180.1 Deceptive Device

Conspiracy

• Wire Fraud Affecting a Financial Institution

• Spoofing

CFTC DOJ

September 16, 2019 August 22, 2019

District Court Complaint Indictment

Spoofing

180.1 Deceptive Device

Attempted Price Manipulation

Conspiracy

• Racketeering

• Price Manipulation

• Bank Fraud

• Wire Fraud Affecting an FI

• Commodities Fraud 

• Spoofing

• U.S. v. Smith et al

• Relevant Period: March 2008 – August 2016
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Statutory Toolbox - Spoofing

Price Manipulation / Attempt

Spoofing

180.1 Deceptive Device

July 16, 2011 Aug. 15, 2011 

Commodities Fraud

May 20, 2009

Wire Fraud

Conspiracy

Wire Fraud Affecting F.I. / Bank Fraud / RICO

CEA

Title 

18
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Case Relevan

t Period

Market Charges Status

US v. Vorley et al. 2008 –

2013

Metals • Conspiracy / WF Affecting an FI

• Wire Fraud Affecting an FI

US v. Thakkar 2013 –

2015

E-minis • Conspiracy / Spoofing

• Spoofing

US v. Zhao 2012 –

2016

E-minis • Spoofing

• Commodities Fraud

• Wire Fraud

US v. Bases et al. 2009 –

2014

Metals • Conspiracy / WF Affecting an FI

• Spoofing

• Commodities Fraud

US v. Flotron 2012 –

2013

Metals • Conspiracy / Commodities Fraud

• Commodities Fraud

• Spoofing

US v. Mohan 2013 E-minis • Conspiracy / Spoofing, 

Commodities Fraud, Wire Fraud

Case Relevan

t Period

Market Charges Status

US v. Vorley et al. 2008 –

2013

Metals • Conspiracy / WF Affecting an FI

• Wire Fraud Affecting an FI

MTD Denied/ 

2nd MTD Pending

US v. Thakkar 2013 –

2015

E-minis • Conspiracy / Spoofing

• Spoofing

Mistrial / 

Dismissed

US v. Zhao 2012 –

2016

E-minis • Spoofing

• Commodities Fraud

• Wire Fraud

Pleaded Guilty

US v. Bases et al. 2009 –

2014

Metals • Conspiracy / WF Affecting an FI

• Spoofing

• Commodities Fraud

Pending / 

MTD Denied

US v. Flotron 2012 –

2013

Metals • Conspiracy / Commodities Fraud

• Commodities Fraud

• Spoofing

Acquitted

US v. Mohan 2013 E-minis • Conspiracy / Spoofing, 

Commodities Fraud, Wire Fraud

Pleaded Guilty

January 29, 2018 – Futures Market 
Spoofing Takedown
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Case Market Relevant 

Period

Charges Status

US v. Edmonds Metals 2009 –

2015

• Conspiracy / Wire Fraud, Commodities Fraud, 

Price Manipulation, Spoofing

• Commodities Fraud

Pleaded 

Guilty

US v. Mao E-minis 2012 –

2014

• Conspiracy / Commodities Fraud

• Commodities Fraud

• Spoofing

Bench 

Warrant

US v. Gandhi E-minis 2012 –

2014

• Conspiracy / Wire Fraud, Commodities Fraud, 

Spoofing

Pleaded 

Guilty

US v. Flaum Metals 2007 –

2016

• Attempted Price Manipulation Pleaded 

Guilty

US v. Trunz Metals 2007 –

2016

• Conspiracy / Spoofing

• Spoofing

Pleaded 

Guilty

US v. Smith et 

al.

Metals 2008 –

2016

• Conspiracy / Racketeering, Price Manipulation, 

Bank Fraud, Wire Fraud Affecting an FI, 

Commodities Fraud, Spoofing

• Attempted Price Manipulation

• Bank Fraud

• Wire Fraud Affecting an FI

• Commodities Fraud

• Spoofing

Pending

Spoofing Prosecutions
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Spoofing Score Card

2014 - 2019

Guilty Pleas 8

Convictions 1

Acquittals 1

Mistrial/Dismissal 1

Individuals’ cases 

pending

9

DOJ spoofing charges brought since 
2014
• Conduct Spans 2007 – 2016

• Charging: 

• price manipulation / attempted

• commodities fraud 

• spoofing

• wire fraud affecting a financial 
institution

• bank fraud

• RICO

• conspiracy




